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“UNWRITTEN LAW. See LEX NON SCRIPTA. A popular expression to designate a supposed rule of law that a man who takes the life of his wife’s paramour or daughter’s seducer is not guilty of a criminal offence.”

—Bouvier’s Law Dictionary and Concise Encyclopedia (1914)

“Of course, all the attorneys for the prosecution, and those for the defense, as well as the judge, knew that legally my clients were guilty of murder. Yet, on the island, and across the seas, and around the earth, men and women were hoping and praying and working for the release and vindication of the defendants. As in similar cases, every one was talking about ‘the unwritten law.’ While this could not be found in the statutes, it was indelibly written in the feelings and thoughts of people in general. Which would triumph, the written or the unwritten law, depended upon many things which in this case demand the most careful consideration.”

—Clarence Darrow, The Story of My Life


Introduction

In the wee hours of the morning on Sunday, September 13, 1931, two events occurred nearly simultaneously in Honolulu which, although reported separately to the police, set in motion a series of events that included lies, deception, mental illness, racism, revenge, murder, and one of the greatest miscarriages of justice in United States history. It nearly tore apart the peaceful islands of Hawaii as it reverberated from the tenements of Honolulu to the hallowed halls of Congress, and right into the White House. And it ultimately left a stain on the legacy of one of the greatest legal minds of all time.

This is the story of the Ala Moana Boys, as they came to be known, and the last trial of Clarence Darrow.

I first became acquainted with this story more than twenty years ago while vacationing with my wife in our favorite vacation destination: Hawaii. We were in a small bookstore in downtown Hilo, on the Big Island, where I picked up a copy of a small paperback book that had a title that leaped out at me from the cover: Rape in Paradise by Theon Wright, published in 1966.

On the back cover, it contained this intriguing teaser:


A white woman claims she is raped by a gang of non-whites; white authorities attempt to push through a swift “justice.” Ugly race hatred bursts out into open violence. The community divides into two angry factions, prompting the federal government to consider sending in troops to maintain order.

Alabama? Mississippi? No. Hawaii in the early 1930s!



Following that introduction to the events in Honolulu of 1931–1932, I became fascinated with the tragic story of five young men—the Ala Moana Boys—who I am convinced were innocent of the charges against them; the brutal murder of one of them; and the trial that brought the famous Clarence Darrow out of the retirement for one last tussle in a courtroom.

As a lawyer myself, I have long held Darrow in high esteem, as does virtually every lawyer in America. But after learning more about this particular story, I came to know that, as is so often the case, this hero had feet of clay. With his legacy solidly chiseled in American history as a champion of the underdog—the little guy—I was saddened to learn that he had been lured by a big payday to take the wrong side of history. If you had simply given me an overview of this story and then said that Clarence Darrow had come on the scene, I would have sworn that he had done so on behalf of the Ala Moana Boys. But that was not the case.

That doesn’t mean, though, that there are no heroes in this tragedy. As I dug into the story and tracked down trial transcripts and court records, I discovered that there were at least two major heroes, and some minor ones. The major ones are Judge Albert Cristy and Honolulu prosecutor John C. Kelley. You’ll read more about them in the pages that follow, but suffice it to say, my admiration for those two men stems from the fact that they were motivated, not by a big fee, as was Darrow, but by conscience and integrity.

What I hope to do with this book is present what is a relatively obscure story in a way that is easy to read, in the style of a novel, rather than in the academic style of a professor or the narrative style of a journalist. I also hope I have been able to add insights from my vantage point as a lawyer about some of the legal maneuvering and the events in the courtrooms.

Although I have obviously taken some liberties in setting some of the scenes and dialogue, I have tried to stay meticulously true to the historical record. Though some dialogue is invented, courtroom testimony and most of the police interrogations come verbatim from trial transcripts and police reports. I have, of course, done some editing to omit tangents and too much detail, but other than that, the words spoken in those settings came right out of the mouths of the participants; courtroom testimony is straight from the trial transcripts.

Ultimately, this story is a tragedy that can match anything fiction might offer, but it is painfully true. I hope that the reader will come away with a new appreciation for the law, as practiced by Judge Cristy and prosecutor John Kelley, as well as by the defense attorneys who represented the Ala Moana Boys in the original rape trial, and with an awareness that, although the potential for injustice can be great, all of us have a duty to ensure fairness for everyone, no matter their color or creed or station in life. In that respect, this is a cautionary tale that should never be forgotten or ignored.

—Mike Farris


PART ONE

THALIA MASSIE AND THE ALA MOANA BOYS


Chapter One

The Woman in Green

“Are you white people?”

September 13, 1931

Approximately 12:50 a.m.

The young woman appeared like an apparition in the gloom.

Eustace Bellinger slowed his car and peered ahead into the darkness. His headlights illuminated a narrow path on an overgrown stretch of Ala Moana Road between Waikiki and downtown Honolulu, about one hundred yards prior to reaching the old animal quarantine station. The Bellingers and their friends, the Clarks, had spent the evening playing cards, and now they were on their way to an evening snack at the Kewalo Inn on Ala Moana. Eustace had just maneuvered his car beyond a row of squatters’ hovels made of flattened tin cans and assortments of sheet metal, and then past a rubbish dump before entering this wild span of road that had once been a small airport. He never dreamed they would encounter anyone out here, much less a woman, alone.

She stepped into the beam of his lights and walked toward the car. She wore a green dress that stretched to her ankles, over which she wore a light green jacket with sleeves trimmed in fur. She had a strange way of walking, with a stooped, almost hunched posture. Light brown hair hung just above her shoulders, and her eyes had an odd bulge to them. She waved her arms to flag the car down.

“What the hell is she doing?” Eustace asked.

His tone brought conversation in the car to a halt. Eustace’s wife, along with George Clark Sr. and his wife, sitting in the backseat, leaned forward to see what he was talking about. George Clark Jr., in the passenger seat, swung his head around to face front.

“Dear Lord,” Mrs. Clark said. “Is that Ramona? She’s supposed to be with friends this evening.”

“That’s not your daughter,” Eustace said. “I don’t know who it is or why in God’s name she would be out here all by herself.”

As the woman drew closer, injuries on her face became visible. A red scuff marked her cheek and she had a puffy, bloodied lip, but her dress bore no signs of distress nor were there any other visible marks.

Eustace slowed his automobile to a stop. The woman lurched to the passenger side, where she moved her lips, as if speaking. A faint whisper of a breeze, ripe with plumeria, filtered in, accompanied by the fluttering of palm fronds in nearby trees. The woman leaned forward and looked inside. She squinted, apparently having difficulty focusing. From up close, the mark on her cheek looked like it might have been made by a ring, perhaps caused by a punch. Her lip was bleeding, and blood dripped from her chin, proof that the injuries were recent.

“Are you white people?” she asked.

A damn strange question, Eustace thought. Wasn’t the answer readily apparent? But her squinting told him she might be unable to see clearly. “Yes,” he said.

“Thank God,” she answered. Without invitation, she opened the passenger door, got in, and sat on George Jr.’s lap. The teenager seemed stunned, but he sat silently as the woman settled in and stared straight ahead.

“Please take me home,” she said. “Twenty-eight fifty Kahawai Street in Manoa Valley.”

Eustace looked over his shoulder at his wife, who nodded. He took his foot from the brake and shifted it to the accelerator, then swung the car in a tight U-turn and retraced the path he had taken along Ala Moana Road.

Mrs. Bellinger took a handkerchief from her purse and handed it to the woman. “What happened to you, dear?”

“Some Hawaiian boys did this to me.”

“Did what?”

“I was with some friends at the Ala Wai Inn and went out for a walk, to get some air.” She squeezed her eyes tightly shut. “I’m afraid I’d had a bit of a spat and needed to clear my head. I didn’t even hear the car when it stopped beside me.”

* * *

Approximately 12:00 a.m. (fifty minutes earlier)

Midnight, and the Ala Wai Inn, a rocking nightspot on Kalakaua Avenue, on the west bank of the Ala Wai Canal, was still hopping. Saturday night had become known as “Navy Night” since the two-story, cottage-like structure, built in the style of a Japanese teahouse, had been discovered by haole (white) sailors from Pearl Harbor, who flocked there on weekends. There was no official policy limiting Saturday night attendance to whites-only, but other Honolulu residents, particularly those of color, simply exercised their judgment in avoiding the Inn on nights when it was filled by military personnel, many of whom were disdainful of the local citizenry, and who imbibed as if liquor were on the verge of extinction. The Ala Wai boasted a large dance floor and billed itself as having the largest open-air pavilion in Honolulu. Dinner and a dance cost a dollar fifty, and the dance typically ended at one o’clock. But the young woman in the green dress left early that night.

She crossed the canal, turned left on Kalakaua Avenue, then turned right on John Ena Road, across from Aloha Amusement Park, sometimes known as Waikiki Park. Another Saturday night dance, this one for locals, had just ended at the open-air dance hall, and patrons were making their exit as she headed makai, or oceanward, on John Ena. She paid no attention to the couple who crossed John Ena and got in their car just as she passed. She continued past a series of bungalows and small apartments that housed bachelor officers from nearby Fort DeRussey, a few small businesses in a single building—Kimoto’s store, a barbershop, another store—then a saimin wagon in a vacant lot, which served a soup made with noodles. Head down, walking slowly, she didn’t notice the woman in the front window of a store who watched her go by, nor the couple she had passed earlier who were now pulled into the lot housing the saimin stand, awaiting an order of noodles.

She crossed a narrow road, called Hobron Lane, and eased into a bend in John Ena, just prior to the turn onto Ala Moana Road. Waves from the nearby Pacific harmonized with the wind in the trees, and there was a fragrance of sweetness in the air from native flora that flanked her on both sides.

An automobile suddenly pulled to a stop beside her. She hadn’t heard it approach, and its sudden halt startled her. Had someone come from the Ala Wai looking for her? Could it be her husband? She turned her head to see but, before she could identify the vehicle, two men sprang from the car. One grabbed her by an arm while the other covered her mouth. She tried to scream, but a dark hand muffled the sound. She sank her heels into the ground and tried to pull away, but one small woman was no match for two full-grown men. They dragged her to an open-topped convertible. More hands grabbed at her as the abductors forced her into the backseat where other men waited. She tried to scream again, but the hand clamped tighter over her mouth, killing the sound in her throat. Another hand covered her eyes. As the car pulled away, she heard a distinctive flapping sound, like a rip on the cloth top vibrating in the breeze.

Panicking, she struggled to free herself from the hands that held her. The more she struggled, the tighter they gripped. A fist slammed into her jaw and she stilled. Dazed, she tried again to cry out, but to no avail. Tears filled her eyes, blurring shapes and figures in the darkness of the night. Then there was a whirlwind of fists pummeling her. Pounding and pounding. No portion of her face was safe. Her nose, eyes, cheeks, mouth. She felt the warm stickiness of blood on her chin as it streamed from her lips.

A jolt suggested that the car left the road and pulled onto hard ground, where it came to an abrupt halt. Her heartbeat kicked up. This is where it would happen. And she knew it was about to happen. After all, why else would dark-skinned men on this God-forsaken island snatch a white woman from the streets? Savages all.

A door opened. She caught her breath, awaiting the inevitable.

Then hands pushed her out onto the jungle floor. She hit the ground hard. Wind rushed from her lungs as she rolled over and came to her hands and knees. To her shock, the door slammed shut and the convertible sped away, its torn top still flapping like a sail in the night air.

She squinted after the speeding car as it left her behind. All she saw were vague outlines and shadows. She tried to focus on the license plate, but to no avail; it was just a blur.

And then the car was out of sight.

* * *

An incredible tale. The car’s occupants were stunned.

“What kind of car was it?” Eustace asked.

“I couldn’t tell,” she said. “Maybe a Ford or Chevrolet. They covered my eyes when they forced me inside, and it was too dark to see after they pushed me out.”

Mrs. Clark cleared her throat. “Dear, did they—” She halted, and then continued. “Did they hurt you in any other way?”

The question hung in the air for an instant. Everyone knew what she was really asking. Then the woman said, “No, they just hit me.”

The story defied logic to Eustace, but he had no facts with which to refute the storyteller. After all, her face bore marks of an assault, albeit not as much as one might expect from the horrific beating she described. Still, it rang false in his ear. He glanced at the woman, who stoically faced ahead. Her dress was immaculate. He slid his glance down at her shoes, alligator-skin pumps. Not a mark on them, even on the heels. Surely being dragged into an automobile and then tossed onto the jungle floor would have left some mark on her shoes or tear in the fabric of her dress. No, something was not right about this story.

From the rear seat, George Clark Sr. voiced Eustace’s concerns, as if reading his mind. “Why would they pick you up just to beat you and then to let you go? Are you sure they didn’t do anything else?”

“I said they just hit me.” Her tone was firm, almost petulant, and brooked no disagreement.

“Did you know these men?” Clark Sr. asked.

“I didn’t know them, and it was too dark to see. But I heard their voices. They were all Hawaiian.”

“You’re sure?”

“I’ve been here long enough to know what Hawaiians sound like.”

“How many were there?” Eustace asked.

“I don’t know. Five or six, I think.”

“Do you know where they went?”

“One of them said something about going to Kalihi. That’s the way they drove off.”

Eustace knew Kalihi to be a squalid residential area teeming with tenements and poverty. “Did you see the license plate number on the car?”

“No.”

“How long ago did this happen? Have you been waiting out here long?”

“Just a few minutes ago. You’re the first car to come by.”

“I think we need to take you to the police station,” Mrs. Clark said. “They can’t be too far away.”

“No!” the woman snapped.

There was a harsh bite to her voice that took the car’s occupants by surprise. No longer merely petulant, she now sounded angry. But as quickly as her temper flashed, it subsided. “I don’t want to go to the police station,” she said in a softer voice. “Please, don’t ask me any more questions. My jaw hurts too much to talk. I think they may have knocked some teeth out. Just take me home, and my husband will take care of me.”

Then she turned her face to the passenger window and stared silently into the darkness. This inquisition was over.


Chapter Two

The Ala Moana Boys

“Something terrible has happened.”

September 13, 1931

Approximately 12:45 a.m.

Just moments before the Clarks and the Bellingers picked up the young woman in the green dress, Agnes Peeples, a sturdy Hawaiian woman, stormed into the Honolulu Police Department’s temporary headquarters at King and Alakea Streets. She slapped a scrap of paper on the counter in front of Officer Cecil Rickard, the Honolulu Police Department’s official radio announcer. The sound echoed throughout the building. Rickard looked at the scrap, on which Agnes had scrawled the numbers “58–895.”

“Cecil, I want to file a complaint against this kanaka boy who assaulted me. Here’s the license plate of the Chevrolet him and his bruddahs were in.”

“Now hold on, Agnes. What do you mean he assaulted you?”

“He hit me. In my face. With his fist.”

Rickard studied Agnes’s face. A red mark on the left side certainly testified to some kind of blow.

“Where did this happen?” he asked.

“At King and Liliha Streets. Five or ten minutes ago. First they nearly crashed into us in their car then this crazy kanaka boy hit me. Look at my ear.”

Sure enough, blood trickled from her left ear. Something had happened to it, all right.

“Okay, let’s back up here, Agnes,” Cecil said. “Tell me exactly what happened.”

* * *

Approximately 12:35 a.m. (ten minutes earlier)

Agnes was a just a wee bit tipsy after she and her husband Homer had spent an evening drinking with friends. A little something to eat was what she needed to settle her down, so Homer pulled their 1924 Hudson out of the garage and they headed toward the center of Honolulu from their home on the ewa, or westward, side of downtown, where Ewa Plantation was located. They cruised King Street in search of an open diner. Despite the lateness of the hour, the town was remarkably alive. After all, it was a Saturday night, actually early Sunday morning, with weekend revelers spending paychecks and enjoying time off from their labors.

Homer tried to ignore his slightly intoxicated wife, who babbled in the passenger seat as he drove. Theirs was a mixed-race marriage, Agnes being a native Hawaiian—a kanaka—while Homer was haole, or white. It was also clear who wore the pants in the family, and she was sitting firmly in the passenger seat.

“I’m hungry,” she said, for at least the fourth time.

“I know, Agnes.” Homer sighed. “I know, I know. You keep reminding me.”

The sound of an engine revving drew his attention to the left. A tan Ford touring car blasted down Liliha Street, toward the short dogleg on King, on to Dillingham Boulevard that led to the squalid part of town known as Kalihi.

Alarm tinged Homer’s voice. “He’s not going to stop.”

He shifted his foot to the space between the accelerator and the brake pedal, ready to react either way, as needed, if the Ford ignored the protocol of intersections. The Ford kept barreling forward, by Agnes’s estimate traveling at least forty-five miles per hour, and a collision on the driver side appeared inevitable. Homer blared his horn and accelerated. At the last second, the Ford slammed on the brakes just as Homer shot past. The Hudson jumped forward into the intersection, barely clearing the nose of the Ford, which screeched to a halt in the middle of the intersection, just to the rear of the Hudson’s passenger side. Homer stopped the Hudson in front of the Ford. He heaved a sigh of relief and took a deep breath.

Agnes was not so placid. She screamed out the window at the Ford, which was occupied by four young men.

“Hey, what the hell you doing? Watch where you going!”

“Go to hell, you pupule wahine,” a male voice said.

“What the hell you talking about? You driving crazy; you gonna kill us all.”

A muscular kanaka man got out of the backseat of the Ford, and a diminutive, but solidly built, Japanese man exited from the driver’s seat. Both appeared to be in their early twenties, and the larger man, nearly six feet tall, moved with the grace and ease of an athlete. The Japanese man seemed a little frightened, perhaps unnerved by the close call with his car, but the kanaka was itching for a fight. And Agnes was ready to oblige him.

“What’s the matter? Can’t you drive?” the kanaka said.

“You the one can’t drive. You the one who’s pupule. My husband drive just fine.”

The kanaka kept coming toward the Hudson. He leaned over the passenger window and peered inside, past Agnes. She smelled alcohol on his breath, just as, most likely, he did on hers. His unsteady eyes settled on Homer’s white face. His lips pulled back, exposing a canine smile, as if he had spotted prey.

“Get that goddamn haole out of the car, and I’ll give him what he’s looking for,” he said.

Agnes saw panic on her husband’s face as his hand fumbled beneath the driver’s seat. She knew he was feeling for his tire iron that he always kept there. This was on the verge of getting ugly.

She opened the door and shoved it into the kanaka, forcing him back. She got out and planted herself in his path with her sturdy frame. He stepped forward. She shot out her hands and slammed the heels into his chest. He staggered back a step. His face registered surprise at the strength of this crazy wahine.

“You get in your car and get the hell out of here,” Agnes said.

The kanaka regained his footing and stood still for a moment, as if unsure how to respond. Then he stepped forward and swung his right hand, fingers clenched into a tight fist. It slammed into the left side of Agnes’s head, squarely on her ear.

But she didn’t go down. With lightning fast reflexes, she slammed her hands into his chest again, then delivered a roundhouse blow of her own, with an open hand, to his face. He appeared stunned.

Homer stepped out of the Hudson and waved the tire iron. “You get away from her,” he said.

The Japanese driver grabbed the kanaka by his arm and pulled him toward the Ford. “Come on, bruddah. Let’s go.”

They both turned and sprinted for the Ford. The kanaka jumped into the backseat, the Japanese slid behind the wheel, and the Ford squealed away toward Kalihi. Agnes squinted after the departing car, memorizing the license plate just long enough to write it down when she got back in the Hudson: 58–895.

* * *

After dutifully listening to Agnes Peeples vent her outrage, Officer Cecil Rickard checked the license plate number with the police department’s traffic division and learned that it actually belonged to a Ford Phaeton touring car, not a Chevrolet. At 12:50 a.m., just as the Bellingers and the Clarks were picking up the young woman on Ala Moana road, Cecil broadcast an alert to patrol cars on duty.

“Be on the lookout for a Ford touring car, license plate number five-eight-eight-nine-five, wanted in connection with an assault on a woman at King and Liliha Streets, last seen headed in the direction of Kalihi.”

* * *

Approximately 1:05 a.m.

Things were starting to wind down at the Ala Wai Inn. One of those still whiling away the night was Lieutenant Tommie Massie, who served as engineer of the diesel-powered submarine S-43. In his mid-twenties, Tommie was slightly built, standing not quite five-and-a-half feet tall. His brown hair was short and parted on the right side, and he typically wore a solemn, if not downright sad, countenance on his face.

With Tommie was his intoxicated friend, Lieutenant Jerry Branson. They were both dressed in white linen suits, both now disheveled. Their wives had already abandoned them, Jean Branson disgustedly leaving when her drunken husband climbed up on the bandstand and pretended to lead the band.

And as for Thalia Massie—well, it had probably been about an hour and a half since Tommie had last seen his sullen wife. Tommie and Thalia had met four years earlier, when Thalia was just sixteen and Tommie was a cadet at the Naval Academy. Then they were married a few months later at the Bethlehem Chapel of the National Cathedral. But things soon soured for this young man from Kentucky and his bride, a daughter of socialites Roly and Grace Fortescue. By the time they arrived in Honolulu, their marriage hung by a thread.

Thalia hadn’t wanted to come that night in the first place. In fact, she rarely wanted to go anywhere with Tommie and his shipmates. She didn’t much like his friends, nor did they care for her. Her fits of temper and moody sullenness had ruined many an evening for Tommie and anyone in the vicinity. Her reputation was already legendary among the submarine officers and their wives, including rumors of overnight male guests at their home in Manoa when Tommie was away on maneuvers. Thalia insulted and criticized others as if it were a sport, and she had been known at times to walk around the house, and even out in the yard, in various stages of undress. Once she physically attacked her husband in public, scratching and biting, while at other times she had stormed off and abandoned him to his companions.

Most of Tommie’s friends wished that Thalia would never come along, and they welcomed her occasional disappearing act as a refreshing respite from the rancid atmosphere that usually enveloped her. Even Tommie would have preferred that she not come with them that evening, but naval wives had obligations, one of which was to accompany their husbands on social occasions so they didn’t become third wheels when out with other married couples. And if Thalia didn’t like it? Well, Tommie had her signature on a pact that reminded her that she was just one violation away from divorce court, a threat he held over her head like the Sword of Damocles.

So she had joined him that evening with his fellow officers and their wives, Lieutenant Jerry and Jean Branson, and Lieutenant Tom and Mary Ann Brown. Nobody really paid any attention when Thalia, in one of her moods, had left their party downstairs and joined others upstairs. The last time anyone recalled seeing her was about 11:30, when she threw one of her usual tantrums in front of three naval officers and their wives—Lieutenant Commander Miller, Lieutenant Stogsdall, and Lieutenant Fish. Thalia had dropped in on them in an upstairs room they occupied and almost immediately confronted an inebriated Stogsdall. The circumstances of their argument were unclear, but it ended with Thalia telling Stogsdall that he was “no gentleman,” and Stogsdall responding that she was, in fact, a “louse”—and she retaliated by slapping him.

Nobody really knew for sure when Thalia actually left the Ala Wai Inn, nor did they care. Out of sight, out of mind. That’s the way most of them liked it.

The Browns departed about midnight, leaving Tommie Massie and Jerry Branson on their own. In his drunken state, Jerry took to the bandstand where he led the musicians, then removed his shoes and, with a boisterous crowd cheering him on, returned to the dance floor to dance in front of the band. At last the music stopped and Jerry flopped on the floor on his back, exhausted.

Tommie approached and stood over him. “Come on, Jerry; enough. Let’s go home.”

Jerry extended his hand. Tommie grabbed and pulled, but felt only dead weight. From his prone position, Jerry looked behind Tommie, as if searching for someone.

“Where’s Jean?”

“She left a long time ago. I suspect she was a little embarrassed by her husband.”

Jerry smiled. “Yeah, that happens sometimes. Where’s Thalia?”

Tommie’s mood sobered. “I don’t know. Gone home, I guess.” He pulled Jerry to his feet. “Come on, let’s go over to Red and Monte’s and get something to eat. They’re probably waiting for us.”

On the way out, Tommie stopped at a telephone. While Jerry leaned against a wall, Tommie dialed the number for his house. After letting it ring for a long while, he slammed the phone down.

“Damn it! She’s not home,” he said. Jerry wisely kept his mouth shut.

By now, the time was 1:15 a.m.

Tommie guided Jerry to his car, a tan Ford touring model, which was still where he had parked it. Obviously Thalia hadn’t taken it. Where the hell was she?

With Jerry flopped drunkenly in the passenger seat, Tommie steered his vehicle down Kalakaua Avenue to Beretania Street and then doglegged east and north toward Lieutenant James “Red” Rigby’s house in the same Manoa neighborhood where he lived with Thalia. He arrived at the Rigbys about ten minutes after leaving the Ala Wai, and deposited Jerry on a couch on the front lanai. The party had clearly not moved to Red’s, a fact confirmed by Red and Monte’s sleepy maid, whom he awakened by banging on the front door. Maybe everyone had gone to the Massie house.

“Can I use the phone?” Tommie asked.

The maid nodded and ushered him inside. Picking up the receiver, he called home again. This time he was rewarded by Thalia’s voice.

“Hello?”

“Thalia?”

“Oh, Tommie,” she said. “Something terrible has happened.” Then she began to cry.


Chapter Three

The Accusation

“A woman was assaulted by a man.”

After initially broadcasting the license number of the Ford touring car involved in the altercation with Agnes Peeples, Cecil Rickard received three responses from officers on patrol, meticulously noting it all in his logbook. At 12:55 a.m., Officer Percy Bond, who was on patrol with Claude Benton in patrol car number 2, radioed from King and Kalakaua Streets that they had received the call. At 1:05 a.m., Detectives John Cluney and Thurman Black, in patrol car number 3, reported from Waikiki by telephone, and at 1:30 a.m., the officers in patrol car number 1, motorcycle officer William Furtado and Detective George Harbottle, reported from a call box at Beretania and Fort Streets.

Although there were plenty of acknowledgements, little, if any, action was being taken. A simple assault wasn’t a high priority, and the officers made no serious effort to follow up other than merely being on the lookout.

Rickard then set about going through license plate files manually to determine the owner of the Ford with the number 58–895. If he could get a name and address, they no longer would have to rely solely upon the happy accident of spotting the car on the streets in order to make an arrest.

* * *

Captain Hans Kashiwabara, who had been with the Honolulu Police Department for seventeen years, making captain just two-and-a-half years earlier, had come on duty at 10:30 that night. After checking in, he went out onto the streets of Honolulu and finally returned to the station at 1:00 a.m. Sergeant Kamauha was working the duty desk when Kashiwabara entered, while Rickard focused his attention on a stack of documents in front of him.

“What’s Cecil doing?” Kashiwabara asked.

“Looking at license plate files, Captain,” Kamauha said. “We’ve had a report of an assault on a woman at King and Liliha. Kanaka boy punched a kanaka woman, but she got the license plate number. Cecil’s trying to find out who owns the car.”

Kashiwabara frowned. He was used to fights and drunks on weekends, but not assaults. Especially not on women. “Tell me exactly what happened.”

“All we know for sure is two cars nearly crashed into each other at King and Liliha. Then this big kanaka gets out of his car and hits the woman in the head. Cecil said her ear was bleeding.”

“What time did this happen?”

“About 12:45 is when she came in. It happened a little bit before that.”

“This kanaka do anything else to her?”

“No. He just hit her once, then jumped in his car and drove off. Japanese boy was driving, and there were others in the car. We got a plate number—fifty-eight eight ninety-five. Cecil’s trying to find out who owns it now.” He paused, then added, “Cecil said he could smell liquor on the woman’s breath.”

Kashiwabara shook his head as he moved to the desk. Now it made sense. Sounded, in fact, like a fairly typical confrontation between drunken drivers on a weekend night. Didn’t sound like anyone really got hurt, though. They’d pick up the car soon enough and then they could sort everything out. He turned his attention to some paperwork that had piled up on the front desk, and time passed uneventfully until the telephone rang at 1:48 a.m. He picked up. “Police department.”

A man on the other end of the line, speaking very calmly, said, “Will you please send a police officer to twenty-eight fifty Kahawai Street in Manoa. A woman was assaulted by a man.”

The words sent a chill down Kashiwabara’s spine. He had already heard eerily similar words earlier. What were the odds of two unrelated assaults on women occurring on the same night? It sounded like a spree was in the works. What made it even more frightening was that this second call didn’t just involve a confrontation between drunken kanakas, but had apparently occurred in Manoa and, from the sound of the caller’s voice, may have involved an assault on a haole woman.

Manoa was a neighborhood of middle- and upper-class homes in the very lush Manoa Valley, running from King Street on the makai, or ocean, end to Manoa Falls on the mauka, or mountain, end. Although the homes located farther up the valley were more exclusive, those on the lower end, where the address the caller had given was located, were modest but well-tended bungalows on small lots bursting with native flora, and they were popular rentals for military personnel. God help us if a haole navy wife was assaulted by a kanaka, Kashiwabara thought. Or, worse yet, by a gang of kanakas.

“Can I have your name, sir?” Kashiwabara asked.

“Just come quickly.” Then the calm-voiced man hung up.

Rickard must have sensed something in his captain’s tone because he stopped his work, turned, and stared at him.

Kashiwabara picked the phone back up from its cradle and called to the detective bureau upstairs. “Detective, we’ve got another assault on a woman,” he said. “In Manoa.”

The man on the other end said, “I’ll be right down,” then disconnected.

A minute later, Detective John Jardine, who was in charge of the night shift of detectives, descended the stairs. Only twenty-eight years old, Jardine had joined the Honolulu Police Department eight years earlier, and was promoted to detective less than two years later. His closest brush with fame had been working with his colleague in the detective bureau, Chang Apana, after whom novelist Earl Derr Biggers had modeled the fictional detective Charlie Chan.

“Are you telling me we’ve got some kind of gang going around attacking women tonight?” Jardine asked.

“We don’t know it’s a gang,” Kashiwabara said. “The man who called said that the woman had been attacked by one man.”

“One man? You’re sure of that?”

“He said ‘a woman was assaulted by a man.’”

“That doesn’t necessarily mean it wasn’t more than one. What else did he say?”

“That’s it. He gave an address in Manoa, twenty-eight fifty Kahawai Street.”

“Manoa.” It wasn’t a question, but a statement. They all knew the implications of that neighborhood. “He give a name?” Jardine asked.

Kashiwabara shook his head. “Sounded haole, though.”

“So that’s two women attacked tonight. That can’t be a coincidence.” Jardine turned to Rickard. “Call Furtado and Harbottle and send them to that house. And find out who owns that car with the license plate.”

“I’m working on it now,” Rickard said.

“Send Cluney to pick up the owner as soon as you find out who it is. Top priority. I’m betting if we find who was driving that car, we find our attackers in both cases.”

* * *

Lieutenant Jerry Branson awoke to find himself alone on a couch on the front lanai of Red and Monte Rigby’s house. Where the hell was Tommie? He pulled himself together and struggled to his feet. Looking to the street, he saw that Tommie’s car was also missing. No big deal, he thought, probably gone home to see if Thalia was there. Only God knew why Tommie would care, though. As far as Jerry was concerned, Tommie was better off without her. She wasn’t good for much, other than the obvious, and she shared that with anybody and everybody when Tommie was away on maneuvers. It was the worst kept secret at Pearl. Even Tommie knew, which is why there were always storm clouds brewing around the couple.

He staggered off the lanai and headed mauka, uphill toward the Massie house. The more he walked, though, the more his full bladder jolted with each step. He wasn’t sure he could make it to Tommie’s house without wetting himself, so he made his usual drunk’s choice: he veered over into the yard of a darkened house and opened his pants. He had just finished watering the flowers when a light fell across him from behind, and then he heard the opening and closing of two car doors. He turned and looked over his shoulder at a police car and its occupants, who were heading his way. They weren’t smiling.

“Hello, officers,” he said. He knew his speech was slurred, but he couldn’t help himself. He tucked himself back into his trousers, then turned around, pants still open. “Nice night, isn’t it?”

“Sir, we need you to come with us,” one of the policemen said.

* * *

Detectives George Harbottle and William Furtado, in patrol car number 1, had received the earlier call about the assault on Agnes Peeples, and although Furtado made a note of the license plate number—58–895—in his notebook, there really wasn’t anything else they could do. Without a name and address, their options were few.

But the second call that came in at 1:50 a.m. seemed to have a bit more urgency to it. They were on their way to a burglary call on Jack Lane when they got the report about another assault on a woman, this one in Manoa, and a specific street address not far from their current location at Alapai and Punchbowl. After they radioed in from a police box, they headed to the address at 2850 Kahawai Street. Like Jardine and Kashiwabara, they operated under the assumption that they were looking for the same suspects in the two assaults. Police officers hated coincidences; some might say they didn’t believe in them.

As they drove up Kahawai, they pulled over beside a patrol car sitting in front of a house just a few doors down from the address they sought. The driver of the other car was patrol officer William Simerson. With him were William Gomes, from a merchant patrol, or private security, detail, and a haole male in the backseat with mussed hair and a sloppy grin on his face.

“What have you got?” Furtado asked.

“This guy was taking a leak in a yard,” Simerson said. “Or maybe he’s a flasher. Can’t be sure. All we know is his trousers were open when we found him in the yard.”

“We just got an assault report from up the street,” Furtado said.

Simerson glanced in the rearview mirror at his prisoner, who met his eyes and kept grinning. “Seems to me a man with his trousers open might know something about that.” The prisoner’s grin stayed in place, as if he didn’t comprehend that the discussion might be about him.

“We’re on our way now to take a statement,” Furtado said. “Twenty-eight fifty Kahawai.”

“The Massie house?”

Harbottle and Furtado exchanged looks. They thought they had been the only ones to get this call. “You know about it?” Harbottle asked.

“Don’t know anything about the call, but I know plenty about the Massies. I’ve been there before. They’re loud drunks. She’s a bit of slut and he’s a hitter. I guess that’s fair, though; she’s a biter.”

“Well, why don’t you come on along? And bring the trousers-guy with you.”

“Might as well. They’re always good for free entertainment.”

* * *

It was roughly 2 a.m. when Harbottle and Furtado reached the Massie house, with Simerson and Gomes trailing behind. The bungalow was modest, but well kept, on a street full of modest, well-kept bungalows. There was nothing to make it stand out in this neighborhood except for an agitated man in a white linen suit pacing in front. The man rushed to the car as they exited.

“She’s inside.”

“You Mr. Massie?” Furtado asked.

“Lieutenant Massie. Hurry.”

Massie hadn’t said much, but what little he did say gave away a slurring of his speech, as if his mouth had been numbed by a dentist. Both detectives took note of the fog of liquor on his breath and his unsteady gait as he led them inside. Both also took note of his rebuke—making it clear that he was Lieutenant Massie, not Mister Massie, with all the superiority over them that distinction probably created in Massie’s mind.

They followed Massie to a darkened living room, where a young woman in a nightgown lay on a couch. She was not unattractive, but neither could it be said that she was attractive. She was slightly pudgy—not overweight, exactly, but soft—and there was a noticeable bulge to her eyes. A lamp on an end table was turned on, but it shed little light. At the base of the lamp lay a pair of eyeglasses, although the young woman never touched them during the interview.

There were marks on her face and neck—a cut on her lip, a bruise under her eye, a swollen jaw, and a black and blue mark on her neck—but no other obvious injuries. She was crying, though to Furtado it seemed strangely unemotional, almost as if she had summoned the tears on cue. And she appeared nervous, which was not surprising. Most people who talked to police detectives were nervous, even the innocent ones. As with her husband, they smelled liquor on her breath, but while he was clearly drunk, she seemed only slightly lit.

“That’s my wife Thalia,” Massie said. “She was raped by a bunch of thugs.”

Thalia glanced up at the officers, then at her husband, as if seeking approval to speak to the police. Furtado sensed uneasiness between the two of them, but under the circumstances, who could blame them? He took a small notebook and pencil from his pocket and approached the couch. Harbottle stood back as his partner began questioning the woman.

“Mrs. Massie, can you tell me what happened?”

“I was attacked by a gang of men,” she said.

* * *

Thalia struggled with her captors in the backseat, her eyes blurred with tears as fists continued to batter her face. A jolt suggested that the car left the road and pulled onto hard ground, where it came to an abrupt halt. A door opened. She caught her breath, awaiting the inevitable.

Hands pushed her out onto the jungle floor. She heard sounds of doors opening and closing, then footsteps. More hands grabbed her, dragging her toward the trees. Muted voices and laughter barely registered, as if the sound were underwater. Someone forced her onto her back, another pinned her arms to the ground, spread out above her head. Another yanked her dress up and tried to pull her underwear down. She struggled to lock her knees together but she wasn’t strong enough.

She closed her eyes and tried to pretend this wasn’t happening.

* * *

All Furtado and Harbottle had been told about the original call was that “a man” had assaulted a woman. Now it was more than one, just like Agnes Peeples had run up against, and now it was rape and not just a simple assault.

“Where did this happen?” Furtado asked.

“They picked me up on John Ena Road.”

Furtado made a note of the location. It hadn’t happened in Manoa but closer to Waikiki. He knew of John Ena Road and its sketchy reputation. All police officers did.

“Can you identify the boys who did this?”

“It was too dark. I didn’t see their faces, but I could see that they were dark-skinned. All I know for sure is that they were Hawaiian.”

“How can you be sure of that?” Furtado asked. “If you couldn’t see their faces, how can you be sure they weren’t Japanese or Chinese? Or Filipino?”

“From their voices. I’m positive they were Hawaiians because of the way they spoke. I know Hawaiians when I hear them.”

She spoke the last words with attitude, offended at being doubted. Still, it was a fair point. After all, most Hawaiians had a distinct way of speaking, with their pidgin English and lilting tone that differentiated them from the Asians in the islands.

“Okay, let’s go through this again from the start,” Furtado said. “What way were you going on John Ena?”

“Toward the ocean. I—my husband and I had been at the Ala Wai Inn, and I went out for a walk.”

“By yourself?”

“I needed some air.” She sounded petulant, her tone sharp. “I often walk by myself when I need some air.”

A glance at Massie revealed a look on his face that might have been skepticism. Could it be that he didn’t believe her?

“Then what?”

“I heard a car behind me, then two men jumped out and grabbed me. They started hitting me for no reason. I tried to resist and one of them hit me under the mouth. I felt a little woozy, so I’m afraid I couldn’t do much to fight them off after that. They dragged me to the car and threw me in, then drove off.”

“What kind of car was it?” Furtado knew that the car the police were looking for in the Peeples assault was a Ford touring car. He hoped it was the same car. If so, with the license plate number they already had, it was just a matter of time before they made an arrest and solved two cases.

“It was a Ford, I think. Or a Dodge. I don’t know. It was too dark to tell. All I know for sure is that it was an old car, with the top open. And I think the top was torn, because I could hear it flapping in the wind.”

“What happened next?”

“They took me into the jungle on Ala Moana Road, near the animal quarantine station. That’s where they did it. I don’t know how many times. All of them took a turn.”

She continued to cry throughout her recitation, but Furtado was struck at how devoid her voice was of emotion. He snuck another look at her husband, who wore the same look he had worn earlier, and he seemed just as emotionless. Skepticism? Or was he just too drunk to understand what his wife was saying?

“After they finished, they pointed to where the road was and then got back in their car and drove off.”

“Could you see the car when it drove away?”

“It was too dark.”

“How about the license plate? Could you see it?”

“No. It was too dark, I tell you.”

“Local Honolulu cars have five numbers,” Officer Simerson said. Furtado hadn’t seen him come in, nor had he seen Harbottle leave. Gomes, with the private security patrol, wasn’t with Simerson, so Furtado assumed that he was guarding the haole in the patrol car and that Harbottle had gone out to help when Simerson entered.

“Can you maybe remember at least two numbers, the first two or the last two?” Simerson asked. “That would be a big help if you could.”

And if she came up with five-eight or nine-five as the first or last two, it might close the books on this case quickly.

A hint of anger slipped into her tone, much like her earlier resentment at being questioned about the race of her assailants. “I already told you it was too dark.”

“And you’re sure you can’t identify the boys?” Furtado asked as he took over the questioning again.

“By their voices, maybe. But only by their voices. All I could tell for sure is that they were Hawaiian.”

“Did you hear any names? Maybe they were talking to each other and someone said a name.”

“No, no names.” She paused, then added, “Well, one of them, I think, was called ‘Bull,’ or something like that.”

That wasn’t much help. Bull was a fairly common nickname among the Hawaiians, similar to whites calling each other “Mac” or “Buddy.” Still, it was at least something.

“Is there anything else you can remember about the car? If we can just identify the car, then we can pick somebody up.”

“Only what I already told you. It was an old car, a Dodge or a Ford. The top was open, and I could hear it flapping when we were driving.”

“And you can’t remember the license plate number?”

“I told you already,” she snapped, the edge returning to her voice. She had a way of turning the anger on and off at will. This was a woman who did not like being doubted. “It’s not that I can’t remember it; I couldn’t see it. It was too dark.”

Furtado looked at his notes then turned to Massie. “Lieutenant, may I use your telephone?”

Massie nodded and led Furtado to a telephone in the near corner of a bedroom adjacent to the living room. Close enough that he could be heard in the living room when he picked up the receiver, dialed, and spoke to Detective Jardine at headquarters, so he lowered his voice.

“We’ve got a serious case up here,” Furtado said. “This isn’t just punching a woman. She was raped.”

“Raped! Does she know who did it?”

“No. But it was a gang of them, not just one man like we thought at first. How are you coming on tracking down that car?”

“We’ve got a line on it. The owner lives in Cunha, and Cluney’s on his way out there now.”

Cunha was on the edge of what was known as Hell’s Half Acre, filled with tenements and poverty. Poor people packed into a dense area of deterioration and decay, boiling with resentment of the haole elite and the ever-present military, who lorded their superiority over the native and Asian population just as Massie had earlier lorded his naval rank over the police officers. This was sounding more and more like a racial attack on an island already smoldering with racial hostility. Furtado worried that it could be the spark to set off a conflagration.

“I think you need to come up here, detective.”

“I’m on my way,” Jardine said. “I also sent Nakea and Bettencourt. They should be there by now.” Then he hung up.

Furtado turned and came face-to-face with Massie, who had lingered just outside the doorway, listening to his call.

“What car?” Massie asked.

“What do you mean?”

“I heard you say something about tracking down a car. What car?”

“We had another report of an assault on a woman earlier tonight by a car full of boys. The victim got a license plate number.”

A spark flashed in Massie’s eyes, as if something had infiltrated the haze of drunkenness about him. “It’s the same ones.”

“It’s sure looking like it.”

“Do you have the car?”

“Not yet.”

“We can get navy personnel to help look for it. What’s the plate number?”

Furtado glanced at his notebook. “Fifty-eight eight ninety-five. But we’ve already tracked down the owner and we’re going to pick him up, so we don’t need navy help.” Nor did the police want navy help. This was police business, not navy business. The last thing he or any other policeman wanted was a bunch of haole sailors on the prowl looking for kanakas in a city that was already a racial tinderbox.

As he broke off the conversation with Massie, Furtado heard new voices in the living room. Returning, he saw that Simerson had left, ostensibly to help Gomes guard the prisoner in the car, and Harbottle had returned, but additional detectives, George Nakea and Frank Bettencourt, had also arrived. Before Furtado could resume his questioning of Mrs. Massie, one of the new arrivals, Nakea, took over the questioning, rehashing and confirming what had already been discussed earlier.

“Tell me what happened,” Nakea said.

Mrs. Massie, who was now holding a damp cloth over her lip, said, “I’ve been assaulted. By some Hawaiian boys, after I left the Ala Wai Inn. I’ve already told this to these other policemen.”

“Sometimes it helps to go through it again. Helps to jog your memory.”

She nodded but didn’t say anything.

“If we pick these boys up and bring them in, could you identify them?”

“No. All I know is that they were Hawaiian boys.”

“Do you know the car number?”

Furtado could swear that, upon hearing Nakea ask that question, Massie seemed to be trying to get his wife’s attention, but she ignored him. He wondered if he had made a mistake by telling it to him.

“No. I couldn’t see it.”

“Why did you leave the Ala Wai?” Detective Bettencourt, the other new arrival, asked.

“I was bored and just wanted to go out for a walk. To get some fresh air.”

“Alone?”

The edge, which always seemed to linger close by, returned to her voice. “Yes, alone. All by myself. Just me.”

Furtado noticed that, after answering, she looked at Massie, who dropped his gaze. The question had touched a raw nerve, just as it had earlier. Why had she left alone? Or had she left alone? And what really happened after she left the Ala Wai? A fist knotted up in Furtado’s gut. She was lying about something. The question was what?


Chapter Four

The Physical Examination

“Clean as a new pin.”

September 13, 1931

2:20 a.m.

A number of cars were parked outside the Massie house when Detective Jardine arrived, accompanied by patrol officer William Seymour. Just prior to leaving the station, alarmed by his telephone conversation with Furtado, Jardine had instructed Cecil Rickard to summon Captain John McIntosh, chief of detectives, from home. If this thing was about to get out of hand, he wanted the top man involved.

As Jardine and Seymour exited their patrol car, they noted a scattering of people standing in clumps in yards, many dressed in nightclothes, obviously neighbors drawn like moths to the flame of the ruckus in their nice little neighborhood. Jardine feared this was about to get even uglier and reassured himself that he had done the right thing by summoning McIntosh away from his comfortable bed.

Furtado met Jardine at the door and filled him in on what Mrs. Massie had reported.

“Nobody said anything about rape before you called me,” Jardine said. “The man who called in the complaint didn’t say anything about it. What’s going on?”

“We didn’t know until we got here, but that’s what she says.”

Jardine turned and gestured at the patrol car in front of the house on Kahawai Street, guarded by merchant patrol officer Gomes, with its haole occupant in the back seat. “What’s he got to do with it?”

“We don’t know,” Furtado said. “Simerson said they found him up the street, walking around with his pants open. Seems like an unlikely coincidence.”

“It sure does.” He peered at the man in the backseat, who seemed to smile back. “Who is he?”

“Says he’s navy.”

“Oh, that’s just great.” Jardine took a deep breath and nodded. “Okay, let’s go in.”

Upon entry to the house, where Mrs. Massie still lay on a couch, sobbing, with a cloth covering her mouth, Jardine could see that things were not going well. An angry and agitated victim, a drunk husband, an unbuttoned navy man outside, and four very frustrated cops were not the ingredients for an effective investigation. He took a quick assessment and decided that additional questioning wouldn’t serve any purpose, not with the condition she was in. And with the new allegation of rape that had surfaced, he was concerned about any further delay before she could be examined physically.

“Mrs. Massie, I’m Detective John Jardine,” he said. “I believe we need to get you looked at by a doctor. Would you please come with me to the hospital?”

It was as if a switch had been flipped. Mrs. Massie transformed from agitated to half-hysterical, her voice shrill and shriek.

“I don’t want to go!” she shouted. “I don’t want to go! I won’t go!”

Her strong reaction took Jardine aback. She seemed more afraid of going to the hospital than traumatized by what she told the officers had happened to her.

“Mrs. Massie, please—”

“I won’t go, I said.” Her sobs grew more desperate as she turned to her husband. “Tommie, don’t let them make me go.”

For his part, Lieutenant Massie seemed almost indifferent to her pleas, his senses deadened by the haze of alcohol that enshrouded him. Jardine took him by the arm and pulled him aside. Speaking in a low voice, he said, “Lieutenant, do you understand how important it is to have her examined? She’s made an allegation of rape, and we’ve got to get evidence. We’ve also got to make sure she hasn’t been harmed, physically. You know, her woman parts. Can you help us out?”

Massie exhaled a boozy breath and nodded.

“Thalia, you’ve got to go,” Massie said. “We have to make sure you’re all right. Now come on, don’t make a fuss.”

Her sobs subsided as she appeared to be weighing her options. After a moment, she stood. Lieutenant Massie took a blanket from the end of the couch and wrapped it around her shoulders.

“Is it all right if she rides in the car with me?” Massie asked.

“Sure,” Jardine said. “You can follow me.”

After leaving the house, Jardine led the Massies to an automobile parked on the street. By now the crowd of onlookers had grown, including other navy personnel, recognizable by their white suits that seemed to match that of Lieutenant Massie. As they walked past Simerson’s patrol car, the passenger in the backseat, Lieutenant Jerry Branson, smiled out the window at them. Thalia’s tears suddenly switched off, and her voice took on a more normal, although completely surprised, tone.

“Why, Jerry, what are you doing here?”

“Just going where they take me.”

“Everything’s all right, Jerry. Don’t worry.”

Lieutenant Massie turned to Jardine. “Why is he in that police car?”

“We need to ask him some questions about tonight.”

“He was with me all night. He didn’t have anything to do with this.”

“Well, we’ll sort it all out when we get to the station,” Jardine said. “But first, let’s have your wife looked at by a doctor.”

* * *

2:35 a.m.

Dr. David Liu and graduate nurse Agnes Fawcett knew they had to be prepared on weekend nights, because you never knew who would darken the door of Honolulu’s Emergency Hospital during those hours. During the weekdays, they often saw victims of accidents, usually plantation workers, but on weekends, drunken brawls produced their own particular kind of victims. He and Nurse Fawcett weren’t prepared, though, for the parade of police and other cars that approached the hospital early Sunday morning.

The hospital’s time card showed the admittance of Mrs. T. H. Massie at 2:35 a.m. The victim was a young woman who said that she had been raped. She had obviously been beaten as well, judging from her bruised and swollen jaw. As was protocol, the initial examination was handled by Agnes; then Dr. Liu would follow with his own.

As Agnes performed a visual vaginal examination on the victim, who said her given name was Thalia, Agnes was struck by what she deemed a noticeable lack of trauma. Rape was usually not a crime of passion, but rather one of rage and anger, yet Thalia’s private parts struck Agnes as being “clean as a new pin,” as she later described them to investigators. No bruising on her thighs, no tearing or ripping of the vagina, and no blood.

“What happened to you, Mrs. Massie?” Agnes asked. She wondered if she had been misinformed, and she wanted to hear the story straight from the victim’s lips.

“Some Hawaiian boys took me in a car and raped me.”

“Oh, dear Lord. You said ‘boys’; how many were there?”

“Six.”

“And they all raped you?”

“Yes, all of them.”

How odd, Agnes thought. A gang rape, yet not a single trauma to her vagina. Was that possible? Agnes was no expert on sexual assault, but it certainly seemed unlikely.

The door opened and in walked Dr. Liu. Although Thalia was lying in an exposed position on the examining table, she showed no sign of embarrassment and made no effort to cover herself. It was as if it was a regular occurrence for her private parts to be exposed to strangers.

“Mrs. Massie, I’m Dr. Liu,” he said. “I know Nurse Fawcett has already examined you, but I’d like to examine you as well. Then she and I can compare notes.”

“That’s fine, doctor.” She spoke the words without a shred of emotion, and again Agnes noted the inconsistencies between her condition and what she said had happened.

Like Agnes, Dr. Liu was also struck by the lack of injury that would normally have accompanied even a single rape, much less a gang rape. There was no tearing of her vagina, no seminal fluid, nothing other than the swollen jaw and marks on her face, along with a few bruises on her arms and legs, to suggest that anything out of the ordinary had happened to her. But a beating was not the same thing as rape.
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